Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in livestock and game species: A review



Clare Death ^{a,*}, Cameron Bell ^a, David Champness ^a, Charles Milne ^a, Suzie Reichman ^b, Tarah Hagen ^c

^a Agriculture Victoria, 475 Mickleham Road, Attwood, Victoria 3049, Australia

^b Centre for Anthropogenic Pollution Impact and Management (CAPIM), School of Biosciences, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria 3010, Australia

^c SLR Consulting Australia Pty Ltd, Lvl 11, 176 Wellington Parade, East Melbourne, Victoria 3002, Australia

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- There are a limited number of small studies investigating PFAS in livestock and game.
- Tissue distribution and elimination of PFAAs varies markedly between animal species.
- PFAA concentrations in meat samples are consistently lower than offal such as liver.
- PFAAs are transferred from exposed animals to offspring, milk and eggs.
- Concentrations of PFAAs in edible animal products decline after exposure ceases.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 October 2020 Received in revised form 23 December 2020 Accepted 23 December 2020 Available online 26 January 2021

Editor: Adrian Covaci

Keywords: Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) Perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) Food safety Livestock health Game species Toxicology



ABSTRACT

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are synthetic, organic chemicals that resist environmental breakdown. The properties that made PFAS into an industrial success also led to their persistence and bioaccumulation. As PFAS were widely used for many decades their presence is evident globally, and their persistence and potential for toxicity create concern for human, animal and environmental health. Following the precautionary principle, a reduction in human exposure is generally recommended.

The most significant source of human exposure to PFAS is dietary intake (food and water) with additional exposure via dust. As PFAS concentrations have been more frequently studied in aquatic food sources, there is less understanding of exposure via terrestrial animals. To further define human exposure via animal products, it is necessary to determine PFAS concentrations and persistence in terrestrial livestock and game species. Studies assessing ambient concentrations of PFAS have noted that, aside from point sources of contamination, there is generally low input of PFAS into terrestrial agricultural food chains. However, livestock and game species may be exposed to PFAS via contaminated water, soil, substrate, air or food, and the contribution of these exposures to PFAS concentrations in food products is less well studied.

This review focuses on perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAAs) and compiles information from terrestrial livestock and game species as a source of dietary exposure in humans, and discusses toxicokinetics and health effects in animals, while identifying future focus areas. Publications describing the transfer of PFAAs to farmed and hunted animals are scarce, and demonstrate large variability in distribution and elimination. We outline several relatively small, short-term studies in cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry. While negative effects have not been noted, the poultry investigations were the only studies to explicitly assess health effects. Comparative information is presented on PFAA concentrations in livestock products and edible tissues of game animals.

© 2021 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* clare@wildtox.com.au (C. Death).

Contents

1	Introduction 2					
2	Sources of PEAS in livestock and game species					
2.	21 Contaminated air and water					
	2.1. Contaminated an and water					
	2.2. Containinated sol, pastified is substate					
	2.5. righteneticity fations and instituted					
2						
J. ⊿	PrAS toxicokinetics					
4.						
5.	PFAS studies in livestock and game species					
	5.1. Overview					
	5.2. Cattle studies					
	5.3. Sheep studies					
	5.4. Poultry studies					
	5.5. Domestic pig studies					
	5.6. Game bird studies					
	5.7. Mammalian game species					
	5.8. Synthesis of findings from studies in livestock					
6.	PFAS in animal products - the food chain					
	6.1. Liver					
	6.2. Blood					
	6.3. Kidney					
	64. Eggs					
	6.6 Muscle/meat					
7	Conclusion 9					
/. Conclusion						
Anonomicugenients						
Kele	References					

1. Introduction

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) are a family of >4000 synthetic chemicals, used extensively throughout the world from the mid-twentieth century (Buck et al., 2011, Sunderland et al., 2019). PFAS are highly fluorinated aliphatic compounds, which differ in their functional groups and carbon chain length (Buck et al., 2011). Many PFAS can reduce surface tension, are resistant to degradation at high temperatures, and are water, oil and dirt repellent (OECD, 2013). These properties mean they have been widely used, for example in metal plating and coating agents, greases, lubricants, adhesives, paints, polishes, cleaning products, surfactants, photographic products, packaging, herbicides and insecticides, textile and leather products, and firefighting foams (OECD, 2013). PFAS resist biodegradation, photooxidation, and hydrolysis due to the strength of the carbon-fluorine bond (Sznajder-Katarzyńska et al., 2019). This review focuses on perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and, in particular, on the most frequently studied PFAAs: perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS). The majority of PFAS research and regulatory attention has been focused on PFOS and PFOA due to their frequent occurrence in the environment, known persistence, and bioaccumulative properties (CRC CARE, 2016).

PFOS and PFOA belong to the group of long perfluorocarbon chain PFAS and they can be the chemical breakdown product of other PFAS (Buck et al., 2011). There are less data available on the toxicity of PFAS other than PFOS and PFOA (ATSDR, 2018), nevertheless in the studies that are available the toxicity of shorter chain PFAS has been lower (e.g. Newsted et al., 2008; Lieder et al., 2009a, 2009b; Butenhoff et al., 2012a). Due to their widespread use, mobility, and persistence in the environment, PFAS are found in soil, surface water and groundwater in urban areas at low concentrations, and have been measured globally in a wide variety of marine and terrestrial animals, and humans (Buck et al., 2011, OECD, 2013). Globally, PFOS is the most prevalent PFAS found (Reiner and Place, 2015). Ecological studies in North America, Europe, Asia and remote polar regions have found PFOS in tissues of polar bears, river otters, albatrosses, bald eagles, fish, dolphins, penguins, and Arctic and Antarctic seals (e.g. Giesy and Kannan, 2001, Houde et al., 2011, Reiner and Place, 2015, Muir et al., 2019). Concentrations of PFOS in wild animals from relatively more populated and industrialised regions, such as the North American Great Lakes, Baltic Sea, and Mediterranean Sea, were greater than those in animals from remote marine locations (Giesy and Kannan, 2001). Honey samples originating from an industrial region of Poland showed 20% higher concentrations of perfluoroheptanoic acid (PFHpA) compared to those from non-industrial regions (Surma et al., 2016).

In 2009, PFOS and PFOA were listed under the *Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants* 'due to their demonstrated toxicity, bioaccumulation, persistence in the environment and ability to travel long distances from the point of release or application' (SC, 2019). This requires participating countries to eliminate or reduce the release of these chemicals into the environment. Manufacturing of other PFAS has continued, with a shift in manufacturing to short-chain PFAS (e.g GenX), which has led to more frequent measurement of these chemicals in the environment, some of which also appear to be environmentally persistent (Sunderland et al., 2019). However, human serum concentrations of PFOS and PFOA have shown a downward trend worldwide since the 2000's (Kato et al., 2015).

In a recent global survey of inhalation, dietary and drinking water sources of PFAS exposures, Jian et al. (2017) noted that food and drinking water are still the main routes of human exposure. This followed assessment of PFAS profiles in indoor air and dust samples collected from home, office, and vehicles, in addition to food (vegetables, dairy products, beverages, eggs, meat products, fish, and shellfish) and drinking water. Dietary exposure to PFAS in fish and shellfish remain the most significant dietary source (Domingo and Nadal, 2017). However, one Canadian study showed that beef contributed around 90% of the total dietary intake of PFOS, with fish being of lower importance (Tittlemier et al., 2007). In a 2016 Australian report, which recorded the occurrence of PFAS in animal products sourced near contaminated sites, PFOS concentrations were highest in rabbit meat, finfish livers, cattle meat and mammalian offal (FSANZ, 2016). PFOA was below reporting limits in most samples, but where measurable it was highest in molluscs and freshwater fish (FSANZ, 2016). There are currently no specific regulatory limits for PFAS in food in any country (FSANZ, 2017), but Tolerable Weekly Intakes (TWI) have been set in Europe (EFSA, 2020), there are guidelines for selected PFAS in drinking water (US EPA, 2016; US EPA, 2017; NHMRC, 2018), and some countries like Australia have also set 'trigger levels' for investigation of PFAS in food products and environmental media (FSANZ, 2017; HEPA, 2020).

PFAS have the potential to bioaccumulate and biomagnify in food webs (Kelly et al., 2009; Houde et al., 2011; Reiner and Place, 2015; Xiao, 2017). The rate of bioaccumulation has been shown to increase as the carbon chain length increases (Houde et al., 2011), supported by studies where bioaccumulation of PFOA is lower than for PFOS (Conder et al., 2008). For example in sheep (Kowalczyk et al., 2012), similar to rats (Cui et al., 2010), PFOA had a higher elimination rate than PFOS. In addition, it has been shown that perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids (PFSAs) (as compared to perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids, PFCAs, of the same perfluorinated chain length (see Table S1 for description of chemical grouping)) accumulate in organisms to a higher degree due to their differing functional groups (Zhao et al., 2012; Conder et al., 2008). Müller et al. (2011) studied a lichen-caribou-wolf terrestrial food web and found that trophic magnification factors were highest for PFAS with nine to eleven carbons, that PFOA did not significantly biomagnify, and that magnification factors were around two times lower than in the marine environment.

Studies have shown large variability in PFAS elimination half-lives between species and chemical type (Kudo, 2015). As these compounds are proteinophilic, PFAS concentrations are generally highest in blood and liver, followed by varying concentrations in bile, kidney, lung, skin, muscle, fat and brain, which vary with species and chemical (Pizzurro et al., 2019; Kudo, 2015). Some PFAS are transferred via the placenta, milk (Kato et al., 2015; Pizzurro et al., 2019) and eggs (Wilson et al., 2020), which reflect direct pathways of PFAS into animal products for human consumption.

While this review includes publicly available PFAS data from terrestrial livestock and game species, most studies have focused exclusively on PFAAs. The term PFAS is used here to be inclusive of PFAAs and other *per-* and polyfluoroalkyl substances. The available studies are outlined by species, and a summary of PFAS concentrations in retail samples of livestock products or edible tissues of game animals (e.g. wild boar, deer, quail and ducks) is provided.

2. Sources of PFAS in livestock and game species

2.1. Contaminated air and water

PFAS can be transported long distances in dust (OECD, 2002; US EPA, 2017). In general, concentrations of PFAS in indoor air and dust samples significantly exceed those found outdoors when an industrial point source is absent, for example home and office PFOS concentrations in Europe, South Korea and North America ranged between <1.0–400 pg/m³ and outdoor concentrations ranged between <1.0–150 pg/m³ (Goosey and Harrad, 2012). Nonetheless, studies in China have shown that total PFAS concentrations in monkey blood samples near urbanised areas (i.e. zoo animals) were one order of magnitude higher than the concentrations in wild monkeys (i.e. nature reserve animals) and that tree leaves accounted for the highest percentage of daily intake (Cui et al., 2019), likely due to airborne deposition. This suggests that food-producing animals in peri-urban areas may also have higher airborne PFAS exposure when compared to those from remote areas, due to a higher density of sources such as landfills and industry.

In relation to exposure via water, reviews of the range of ambient PFOS concentrations in drinking water in Japan (Guruge et al., 2008), Australia (Thompson et al., 2011) and Europe (EFSA, 2018) have reported concentrations varying from <0.1-51 ng/L. Global drinking water PFAS concentrations have been reviewed recently by Rahman et al. (2014) and Domingo and Nadal (2019). PFAS have been measured in sediments in bays, lakes and rivers, and in effluents from sewage treatment plants (OECD, 2002; Ahrens et al., 2009; Möller et al., 2010). An example of surface water PFOS concentrations downstream from wastewater treatment facilities includes concentrations in Japan up to 157 ng/L (Guruge et al., 2008). Increased water concentrations occur downstream of PFAS production sites (Boiteux et al., 2017) and sites where historical use of aqueous film forming foams (AFFF) occurred for fire-fighting purposes (D'Agostino and Mabury, 2017), as well as downstream of landfills (for example, concentrations in leachate from an Australian study were PFOA max. 48 ng/L, and PFOS max. 240 ng/L; Gallen et al., 2017). PFOS and PFOA have surface water halflives of 41 years and 92 years respectively (DoER, 2016) and nanofiltration may be required to remove PFAS from treated water (Domingo and Nadal, 2019). In Australia, the principal source of PFAS contamination in livestock has been due to stock drinking water contaminated via stormwater runoff from historic use of AFFF at neighbouring sites (Australian Government, 2020).

2.2. Contaminated soil, pasture or substrate

Globally, many regions are continuing to discover PFAS contaminated sites from AFFF use, particularly next to airports, fire training areas and military bases (Sunderland et al., 2019; DoD, 2020). Background PFAS concentrations in soil versus concentrations seen at contaminated sites globally have recently been reviewed by Brusseau et al. (2020). Concentrations reported for PFAS-contaminated sites were generally orders-of-magnitude greater than background concentrations, particularly for PFOS, which ranged upwards of several hundred mg/kg (Brusseau et al., 2020). Among other PFAS, PFOA and PFOS are found in sludge or biosolids from wastewater treatment plants with 80-100% detection frequency, thus application to pastures raises concern about accumulation in the edible tissues of food animals (Lupton et al., 2011, 2014, Venkatesan and Halden, 2013). PFAS concentrations in biosolids have been found to range from 1 to 244 µg/kg dry weight (dw) PFOA and 5-3120 µg/kg dw PFOS in the USA (Lupton et al., 2011, 2014), from 4.3 to 89 µg/kg dw PFOS in Italy (Brambilla et al., 2016) and between 4.7 and 86 µg/kg dw PFOS in Australia (Sleep and Juhasz, 2020). Concentrations of PFOS in soils of biosolidamended fields have been measured up to 483 µg/kg dw (Sepulvado et al., 2011).

Animals consume soil while they are grazing and plants also uptake PFAS from soils; multiple studies have demonstrated that the amount of PFAS in plants is directly proportional to soil concentrations (e.g. Stahl et al., 2009), but uptake occurs to different extents according to their concentrations, chain lengths, functional group, plant species and variety, growth media (hydroponics vs. soil), and soil characteristics, primarily soil organic matter (Ghisi et al., 2019). Example concentrations in potential livestock feed products grown in soil spiked with 1 mg/kg of each compound include rye grass: PFOA 408-7250 µg/kg dw and PFOS 92-470 μ g/kg dw, and wheat straw: PFOA 1900 and PFOS 270 µg/kg dw (Stahl et al., 2009). In forage grown on biosolidamended soil, concentrations of PFOS and PFOA have been measured at 1–20 $\mu g/kg$ and 10–1200 $\mu g/kg$ dw respectively (Yoo et al., 2011). Fernandes et al. (2019) found evidence of PFAS uptake into pig liver from biosolids exposure, and also demonstrated that PFAS concentrations in eggs showed evidence of uptake from chicken exposure to recycled cardboard, dried paper pulp and wood shavings used as substrate/bedding. This indicates that long-term exposure to PFAS from soil and forage is important to consider in livestock grazed on pastures with ongoing application of biosolids (Lupton et al., 2014), and that care must be taken with use of recycled materials as substrates in the animal industries (Fernandes et al., 2019).

In 2018, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) reported modelling where forages represented 78% of PFAS exposure in ruminants, while soil accounted for >80% in outdoor poultry/eggs and pigs (Brambilla et al., 2015). This proportionality would clearly change depending on the PFAS concentrations in each exposure medium (water, soil, grass) at a particular location of interest, as well as with housing and rotation practices of livestock, and feeding habits. As an example of dietary PFAS exposure from processed animal feed other than fishmeal, a Turkish study of PFAS concentrations in commercial feed for layer hens, cattle and sheep found PFOA and PFOS concentrations up to 7.55 µg/kg ww and 0.88 µg/kg ww respectively (Onel et al., 2018).

2.3. High-energy rations and fishmeal

Some PFAS have been shown to bioconcentrate in fish (US EPA, 2017). Thus, mixed feeds for animals originating from fish may contribute to higher PFAS exposure in some farm animal species (Guruge et al., 2008). A study from Japan suggested that use of feeds with animal and fish products for fattening could explain accumulation of PFOS in beef cattle (Guruge et al., 2008). Li et al. (2019a) collected 92 commercial fishmeal samples from leading fishmeal-producing countries and found that the sum concentration of 16 common PFAAs ranged from 0.65 to 85.5 μ g/kg (mean: 18.2 μ g/kg, 12% moisture). PFOS predominated, with high detection of perfluoroundecanoic acid (PFUnDA), and wide occurrence of short-chain PFAA (e.g. PFBA, PFBS) (Li et al., 2019a). The total concentrations of PFAA in fishmeal were significantly higher in products originating from fish in the northern compared to the southern hemisphere (Li et al., 2019a), which correlates with modelled ocean PFAA concentrations (Muir et al., 2019).

2.4. Transplacental and lactational transfer

Studies of humans and laboratory animals demonstrate that both PFOA and PFOS in maternal plasma can cross the placenta and can also enter breast milk (Kato et al., 2015; Pizzurro et al., 2019; ATSDR, 2018) and that the ratio of PFOS concentrations between maternal serum:milk:cord blood are comparable across species (van Asselt et al., 2013). Guruge et al. (2008) found high concentrations of PFOS in cattle foetal livers, indicating that PFOS crosses the placental barrier to enter foetal circulation. Following birth, lactactional transfer has been shown to occur in humans and mice (Lau, 2015) and studies in PFAS exposed cattle and sheep have demonstrated PFAS transfer from feed to milk (Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013), so this is likely to be the same in livestock and game species.

3. PFAS toxicokinetics

PFAAs are generally well absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract (e.g. >90% absorption of PFOA and PFOS in rats) and are not metabolised (Kudo, 2015, Pizzurro et al., 2019). As they are nonvolatile and metabolically inert, body clearance of PFAAs depends on elimination into urine and faeces, and the enterohepatic circulation that occurs following excretion into bile may extend half-life (Kudo, 2015). In contrast to neutral hydrophobic organic contaminants (e.g. polychlorinated biphenyls or PCBs), which are primarily accumulated in adipose tissue (Conder et al., 2008), PFAAs are distributed mainly to the serum, liver, and kidneys (ATSDR, 2018, Kudo, 2015, Pizzurro et al., 2019) and their bioaccumulation potential cannot be predicted by traditional approaches (Conder et al., 2008). Toxicokinetic studies in rats demonstrated that different homologues of the two major groups of PFAA, PFCAs and PFSAs, have different urinary clearance rates (Ohmori et al., 2003). Renal elimination is the most critical process in determining total body clearance and biological half-lives of PFAS (Kudo, 2015).

Large differences in elimination rates of PFAS have been observed within and between different species (Lau, 2015, see Table 1), with the longest half-lives seen in humans (Pizzurro et al., 2019). Half-lives vary with chemical, and are longer for the eight-carbon versus four-carbon PFAS, and longer for the sulfonates compared to the carboxylates (Pizzurro et al., 2019). Human, mouse, rat and monkey studies show that half-lives decrease in the order of PFHxS>PFOS>PFOA>PFBS>PFBA but the longer half-life estimate for PFHxS may be related to uncertainty in the assumptions used to derive the estimate (Pizzurro et al., 2019). There have been relatively few studies in livestock. The variation in half-lives between species is large and ranges from hours e.g. PFOA in rabbits (Hundley et al., 2006), to days or weeks e.g. PFOS and PFOA in mice (Chang et al., 2012; Lou et al., 2009) and birds (Newsted et al., 2007; Wilson et al., 2020; Tarazona et al., 2015), then up to several months e.g. PFOS in monkeys (Chang et al., 2012; Seacat et al., 2002), and finally years for PFOS in pigs (Numata et al., 2014) and humans (Spliethoff et al., 2008; Glynn et al., 2012). Studies of PFAS in rats have also demonstrated differences in elimination half-lives between sexes (e.g. Chang et al., 2012) however further work is required to explain these gender differences.

Tissue to serum partition coefficients of PFAS vary by chemical type, and between species (Table S2). For example while PFOS and longer chain PFAS bioaccumulate and persist in protein-rich compartments (liver, blood) (Kelly et al., 2009), partitioning between the blood and the liver is highly specific to animal species (Guruge et al., 2008). The evidence in humans and experimental mammals suggests that PFOA, PFOS, and PFBS preferentially distribute to the liver, whereas PFBA and PFHxS appear to preferentially distribute to the serum (Pizzurro et al., 2019). While PFAS are proteinophilic and their concentrations exhibit positive correlation with protein content of tissues, rather than fat content (Kelly et al., 2009), PFAS are found in fat tissue to varying extents and cannot all be thought of as being lipophobic (Numata et al., 2014). In humans, the long half-lives of PFOS and PFOA appear to arise from the processes of enterohepatic recycling and of saturable resorption from the kidney (Roberts, 2016). Overall, studies demonstrate varying levels of excretion and accumulation of PFAS, dependent on both the chemical and the animal species. Several studies have demonstrated that short chain PFAS compounds (such as PFBS), which show different elimination kinetics due to smaller molecular size, higher water solubility and reduced protein binding, have demonstrably shorter half-lives (e.g. Kowalczyk et al., 2013). Riebe et al. (2016) proposed that the low PFOA concentration in herbivorous and carnivorous species in their study, compared with the mean PFOA concentrations seen in wild

Table 1

Serum/plasma elimination half-lives of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) across experimental, game and livestock species. Modified from Lau (2015) and ToxConsult (2016 a,b).

	PFOS		PFOA	
	Female	Male	Female	Male
Rabbit Rat Mallard duck Ouail	88 days ^a 14–83 days ^{c,d}	7.5–82 days ^{e,d} 13.6 days ^h 20.7 days ^h	7 h ^b 2–16 h ^f	5.5 h ^b 1.3–21 days ^{g,d}
Chicken Mouse Dog	3.5–160 days ^{i,j} 31–38 days ^k	36–43 days ¹	16 days ^m 8–13 days ⁿ	4.6 days ^k 22 days ^m 20–30 days ⁿ
Cattle Sheep Monkey Pig	39–106 days ^o No data 110–200 days ^{k,r} 1.7 years ^t	120 days ^p No data 132–200 days ^{l.r}	1.3 days ^o No data 33 days ^s 236 days ^t	19.2 h ^q No data 21 days ^s

^aTarazona et al. (2016). ^bHundley et al. (2006). ^cWang et al. (2010a, 2010b). ^dDe Silva et al. (2009). ^cJohnson and Ober (1979). ^fKemper (2003). ^gBenskin et al. (2009). ^hNewsted et al. (2007). ^bWilson et al. (2020) (laying hens). ^jTarazona et al. (2015) (8-wk old males). ^kYoo et al. (2009). ^lChang et al. (2012). ^mLou et al. (2009). ⁿHanhijärvi et al. (1988). ^oVestergren et al. (2013). ^pLupton et al. (2015). ^qLupton et al. (2011). ^rSeacat et al. (2002). ^sButenhoff et al. (2004). ^rNumata et al. (2014).

boar, suggests an omnivorous diet could play an important role in the uptake of PFAS, which may be a result of the affinity of PFAS for protein and therefore animal tissues.

4. Health effects of PFAS in animals

Although concern has been raised over the toxic effects seen in experimental animal studies at high PFAS doses, it is presently unclear whether these findings are relevant in livestock and game species at environmentally relevant exposure concentrations. The primary effects observed in laboratory animals exposed to perfluoroalkyl compounds (generally at doses higher than human exposure concentrations) are liver toxicity, developmental toxicity and immune toxicity (ATSDR, 2018). Experimental exposure to PFOS results in accumulation mostly in the serum and liver (OECD, 2002), with evidence of liver toxicity at high oral doses of PFOS (e.g. 0.75 mg/kg in monkeys) (Seacat et al., 2002) and PFOA (e.g. 5 mg/kg in mice) (Crebelli et al., 2019). Studies in monkeys and rats have shown a decrease in serum cholesterol concentrations, weight loss, and detrimental effects on glycogen metabolism (Seacat et al., 2002; Jiang et al., 2015). Also in rats, carcinogenicity (e.g. testicular, liver and pancreas tumours) has been demonstrated in some sub-acute and chronic PFOS and PFOA studies at high oral doses (e.g. 5-20 mg/kg in feed) (Biegel et al., 2001; Butenhoff et al., 2012b; NTP, 2020; Thomford, 2002). There is evidence of reproductive (Lu et al., 2019) and developmental toxicity in rats, mice and rabbits (OECD, 2002; Lau et al., 2003; Thibodeaux et al., 2003; Luebker et al., 2005a, 2005b; Wang et al., 2010a; Li et al., 2019b), and altered thyroid hormone concentrations in monkeys (Seacat et al., 2002). These types of health effects have not been investigated or reported in livestock or game species, and the variability seen in experimental animal species suggests a wide range of potential effects, over a range of exposure doses and time frames, need to be considered in future PFAS studies in food-producing animals. Due to the large differences in PFAS toxicokinetics between species, blood serum (or plasma) PFAS concentrations are a better indicator than external dose for comparing adverse effects between different species (Pizzurro et al., 2019).

From many experimental studies, it appears that animals can tolerate extremely high concentrations of PFAS. Recorded PFOS 'No Observable Adverse Effect Levels' (NOAELs) in experimental animals include blood concentrations of 67 mg/L in monkeys (Seacat et al., 2002) and 40 mg/L in rats (Luebker et al., 2005a, 2005b; ToxConsult, 2016a). In livestock, detrimental health effects were not reported, and are therefore assumed not to have been observed, in multiple short-term experimental studies at similarly high maximum observed blood plasma PFOS concentrations, including up to 0.24 mg/L in sheep (Kowalczyk et al., 2012), 0.25 mg/L in pigs (Kowalczyk, 2014) and between 2.46 mg/L (Kowalczyk et al., 2013) and 76.3 mg/L (Lupton et al., 2015) in cattle. For context, the average human blood PFOS concentration from various studies in the United States between 2005 and 2009 ranged from 13.2 to 17.1 ng/mL (Kato et al., 2015).

Several studies have discussed health effects in birds. Although bird eggs have been used in biomonitoring studies on PFAS, and there are some indications of eggshell thinning and reduced hatching success in wild birds, effects of environmental PFAS concentrations on avian reproduction remain largely unknown (Custer et al., 2014; Groffen et al., 2019). Some avian studies have demonstrated higher plasma oxidative damage and lowered plasma antioxidant defences secondary to longer-chain PFAS exposure, which has the potential to affect key fitness traits such as reproduction (Costantini et al., 2019). The acute and chronic effects of PFOS (Newsted et al., 2006, 2007) and PFBS (Newsted et al., 2008) in mallard ducks and northern bobwhite quail have been studied using high doses in experimental settings, in which adult health, body and liver weight, feed consumption, gross morphology and histology of body organs, and reproduction were examined (for half-life results see Table 1). These studies show that high doses can be tolerated in these birds, with effects not reported below the 10 mg/kg of PFOS in feed dose (Newsted et al., 2007, 2008). Exposure concentrations of \geq 10 mg/kg in feed showed decreased survivorship of quail offspring, a greater incidence of small testes length (Newsted et al., 2008) and an increase in quail, but not mallard, liver weight (Newsted et al., 2008). In the acute and chronic PFBS studies, the only detrimental effect was reduced body weight gains at doses >5620 mg/kg feed (Newsted et al., 2008). These studies appear to support the hypothesis that shorter chain PFAS, like PFBS, are of lower toxicity.

There were no published studies found that were specifically designed to investigate health effects in terrestrial livestock species; experimental studies to date have focused on chemical uptake and clearance after relatively short repeat exposures (approx. 3 weeks to 3 months e.g. Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013, Kowalczyk, 2014) or high bolus doses (e.g. Lupton et al., 2014, 2015), so the reported tissue concentrations, elimination rates and health observations are more relevant to acute rather than chronic exposure situations. The only livestock studies that have actively assessed health effects, in addition to reporting tissue PFAS concentrations and elimination times, are the three main studies discussed below in poultry (Yeung et al., 2009; Yoo et al., 2009; Wilson et al., 2020) in which no adverse effects were reported. In one of the two studies assessing domestic pigs reviewed below (Numata et al., 2014), general health was assessed by daily observation and there were no reports of adverse effects. There was no discussion of health effects in the cattle and sheep studies reviewed (Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013; Lupton et al., 2014, 2015; Vestergren et al., 2013), and the assumption is that no overt adverse effects were observed.

5. PFAS studies in livestock and game species

5.1. Overview

There have been relatively few investigations of PFAS in livestock and game species, which complicates management of farm animal health and food safety regulation. PFOS, PFHxS and PFOA are the predominant PFAS that have been described in livestock and game studies. Some studies have assessed livestock tissue concentrations due to ambient exposure to various PFAS (e.g. Guruge et al., 2008; Vestergren et al., 2013). The absolute concentrations of PFOS seen in Swedish cattle (Vestergren et al., 2013) were substantially lower compared with Japan (Guruge et al., 2008), emphasising regional differences in the magnitude of ambient PFAS exposure for farmed animals. Guruge et al. (2008) collected blood and liver samples from multiple farm animal species. PFOS was measurable in all samples and was the most prominent PFAS found in farm animals, with chicken livers containing the highest mean PFOS concentration, followed by livers from pigs and cattle (Guruge et al., 2008). The presence of other PFAS in livestock (such as PFOA, PFNA, PFDA, PFUnDA and PFDoDA) was insignificant (Guruge et al., 2008).

Some of the studies in livestock described below have taken advantage of "naturally contaminated" forage, for example, following a case of illegal mixing of industrial waste with fertiliser. The contaminated forage was subsequently used for two seminal pilot studies in cattle and sheep (Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013), with doses estimated to be 10to 100-fold less than those used for toxicokinteic studies in chickens and rats. The majority of experimental studies are, however, less reflective of ambient exposure and have looked instead at tissue concentrations and elimination half-lives after a single, large bolus dose of PFAS (e.g. Lupton et al., 2014, 2015), with some investigating exposure over several months (e.g. Zafeiraki et al., 2016); Wilson et al., 2020).

5.2. Cattle studies

Cattle have been the subject of more PFAS studies than other livestock species, and this work has demonstrated that PFAS concentrations in exposed animals will be highest in blood, liver and kidney, with some accumulation in fat and muscle, and potential transfer to milk. Enterohepatic circulation of PFOS results in its prolonged presence in plasma, whereas PFOA is almost fully excreted (Lupton et al., 2014). In general, the shorter-chain PFAS like PFHxS and PFBS have lower accumulation potential in cattle compared to the long-chain compounds like PFOS (Lupton et al., 2011, 2014).

Vestergren et al. (2013) studied the bioaccumulation of PFAS in five dairy cows (<24 months of age) receiving feed and drinking water in Sweden with ambient concentrations of PFAS. Despite feed and water concentrations of PFOA being approximately double those of PFOS, tissue concentrations of PFOS were an order of magnitude higher (Vestergren et al., 2013). Mean PFOS concentrations were highest in whole blood, followed by liver and then muscle, and the authors concluded that long-chain PFAS have a relatively high potential for transfer to milk and beef from the diet of dairy cows (Vestergren et al., 2013).

Kowalczyk et al. (2013) investigated the transfer of perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS), PFHxS, PFOS and PFOA into tissue and milk of 6 Holstein dairy cows fed contaminated hay and silage. After 28 days, three cows were slaughtered while three underwent a 21-day depuration period prior to slaughter. Overall, PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS, and PFOA showed different kinetics, and different milk elimination patterns. In plasma, concentrations of PFBS and PFOA remained low, whereas PFHxS and PFOS continuously increased during the feeding period (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). After the dietary exposure had stopped, PFOS concentrations continued to increase in muscle, kidney, plasma and liver, whereas PFHxS decreased linearly during the depuration time (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). The highest PFHxS concentrations were detected in liver and kidney, with lowest total PFAS concentrations seen in muscle. At the end of the feeding study, cumulative secretion in milk was determined for PFOS (14 \pm 3.6%) and PFHxS $(2.5 \pm 0.2\%)$, whereas PBFS and PFOA were barely secreted into milk (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). Overall, the kinetics of PFOA were similar to those of PFBS and substantially differed from that of PFHxS and PFOS (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). The very low concentration of PFBS in plasma and milk, the relatively high urinary excretion, and only traces of PFBS in liver and kidney suggest that PFBS does not accumulate in the body of dairy cows (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). This study showed that the longer the carbon chain, the lower the elimination rate via urine and milk, corresponding to higher accumulation in tissue samples, however the kinetics of PFOA were more similar to the short chain PFBS, compared to PFOS and PFHxS (Kowalczyk et al., 2013).

van Asselt et al. (2013) developed a physiologically based pharmacokinetic (PBPK) model for transfer of PFOS from feed to milk using the data described above from Kowalczyck et al. (2013), and estimated the half-life of PFOS in milk (56 days). There was a high correlation between PFOS concentrations in blood and milk, and model calculations showed that once steady state is reached almost all ingested PFOS is excreted through the cows' milk, although parameter estimation was complicated as the experiments were shorter than the half-life (van Asselt et al., 2013).

Lupton et al. (2011, 2014, 2015) have performed multiple small trials in cattle using various doses of PFOS and PFOA. Lupton et al. (2011) studied the elimination of a single, high oral dose (1 mg/kg) of PFOA in four Angus steers in the USA and found that it was fully excreted in the urine within 9 days of dosing, with a plasma elimination half-life of <20 h. Although PFOA was rapidly absorbed, it was also rapidly excreted and did not persist in edible tissues (Lupton et al., 2011). This finding was supported by Kowalczyk et al. (2013), where negligible amounts of PFOA were observed in all tissue samples.

Following a single, high, oral dose (approx. 8 mg/kg) of PFOS in three Angus steers, Lupton et al. (2014) found that the major route for excretion was via faeces (11 \pm 1.3%), with minimal excretion via urine (0.5 \pm 0.07%) and tissue concentrations decreased in the order: liver > back fat > kidney > intraperitoneal fat > lung > spleen > muscle. The high PFOS concentrations in liver and bile, and the prolonged presence of PFOS in plasma, indicated the important role that enterohepatic circulation plays in PFOS fate and distribution (Lupton et al., 2014). Fat samples had consistently higher concentrations than muscle (Lupton et al., 2014), but these results are not typical, as other animal studies have observed low accumulation of PFOS in fat tissues (Yoo et al., 2009; Bogdanska et al., 2011). A large concentration of the initial dose was still in blood at 28 days (36%), followed by the carcass remainder (6%) and muscle tissue (4%) (Lupton et al., 2014). Approximately 39% of the dose was not accounted for in the mass balance, therefore they hypothesized that large compartments such as skin and bone could be pools where PFOS is distributed in cattle (Lupton et al., 2014). Bogdanska et al. (2011) analyzed the skin and bone of mice and observed concentrations similar to those observed in blood, indicating that distribution to these tissues could be a source of the unaccounted PFOS, which is supported by a finding that concentrations of PFOS in duck skin were higher than those in muscle (Senversa, 2018).

Two Angus steers given a single oral bolus dose (capsule; 0.098 mg/kg bw) of PFOS and slaughtered on day 343 showed similar average PFOS concentrations in liver and plasma (0.15 µg/g ww and 0.15 µg/mL), whereas muscle concentrations (0.005 µg/g ww) were much lower (Lupton et al., 2015). Heifers in the same study were given a much higher oral bolus dose of PFOS (9.1 mg/kg bw) and tissue concentrations on Day 343 (n = 2) remained highest in plasma (8.3 µg/mL), followed by liver (4.7 µg/g) and then muscle (0.28 µg/g ww) (Lupton et al., 2015). Plasma depletion half-lives for the steers and heifers were 120 ± 4.1 and 106 ± 23.1 d, respectively (Lupton et al., 2015).

Guruge et al. (2008) found a positive correlation between serum PFOS concentration and age in lactating Holstein cows. In Australia, serum samples from cattle that resided adjacent to a site with historical use of firefighting foam showed much higher serum PFOS concentrations in bulls that had been resident for a longer period (i.e. several years) compared to the cows and calves, but PFHxS concentrations between the groups did not differ (Senversa, 2018).

5.3. Sheep studies

A pilot study by Kowalczyk et al. (2012) in Germany demonstrated the transfer of PFOS from contaminated feed (corn silage cultivated on cropland where illegal waste had contaminated farmland) into sheep milk and meat. Two East Friesian sheep were fed PFAS (PFOS: 90 µg/kg dry matter, PFOA: 33 µg/kg dry matter) contaminated corn silage for 21 days and PFOS was excreted in milk at higher concentrations (0.2–19.2 µg/L) than PFOA (<0.2–1.3 µg/L) (Kowalczyk et al., 2012). Although the transfer was low over this short period, PFOS could be measured in milk, liver, kidney and muscle tissue (Kowalczyk et al., 2012). PFOA was excreted in the urine, but PFOS excretion was primarily via the faeces (Kowalczyk et al., 2012).

Zafeiraki et al. (2016a) sampled livers from sheep fed with grass obtained from a river floodplain in the Netherlands, with PFOS concentrations up to 0.5 μ g/kg, compared to those fed clean grass. Some sheep were fed for 112 days and PFOS concentrations in liver reached 10.9 ng/g w/w, whereas animals switched to clean grass after 56 days of exposure showed a decrease in liver concentrations from 9.2 to 4.7 ng/g w/w after 64 and 112 days respectively (Zafeiraki et al., 2016a). The percentage of PFOS ingested and retained in the liver was estimated to be 12% at day 56, which reduced to 6% after another 56 days on clean grass (Zafeiraki et al., 2016a).

5.4. Poultry studies

Yeung et al. (2009) dosed juvenile male domestic chickens with 0, 0.1 or 1 mg/kg combined PFOS, PFOA and perfluorodecanoate (PFDA) via gavage three times a week for three weeks. After three weeks of exposure, half of the chicks were sacrificed, and the other half underwent depuration for a further three weeks. No dose-dependent statistically significant differences in body/organ weights were observed among treatment and control groups for the duration of the study, and

histological and plasma biochemical parameters did not differ. The halflives at the higher dose rate were 17 days for PFOS, 16 days for PFDA, and 3.9 days for PFOA (Yeung et al., 2009). The liver was the main target during exposure, and the blood was the main reservoir during depuration.

Yoo et al. (2009) exposed groups of six male chickens to two levels of PFOA (0.1 or 0.5 mg/mL) or PFOS (0.02 or 0.1 mg/mL) via subcutaneous osmotic pump for four weeks and then allowed them to depurate for an additional four weeks. This administration route is unusual and unlikely to reflect environmental exposures, however, these exposures did not cause any statistically significant changes in body index, clinical biochemistry or histology among treatments relative to the controls (p = 0.05), except that concentrations of total cholesterol and phospholipids were less in chickens exposed to PFOS. The elimination rate constant for PFOA was approximately six-fold greater than that of PFOS, and the greatest concentrations of PFOA and PFOS were found in kidney and liver, respectively (Yoo et al., 2009). In summary, in broilers, PFOS concentrations were higher in liver and blood compared to kidney, whereas PFOA concentrations were highest in kidney and it was eliminated faster (Yeung et al., 2009; Yoo et al., 2009).

A study in 119 \times 30-week old layers dosed for two months with PFOS, PFOA, PFHxS and PFHxA (perfluorohexanoic acid) at up to 300 µg/L water did not demonstrate any negative health or productivity effects (Wilson et al., 2020). There was a linear correlation between the PFAS concentrations in the drinking water of hens and those detected in the egg (Wilson et al., 2020). The PFAS elimination half-life in eggs measured over the study period (collected every second day), calculated as the rate at which the PFAS concentrations in eggs decreased after PFAS exposure to the hen via drinking water ceased, also referred as the "clearance phase", was 7 d for PFHxS, 5.4 d for PFOA, 3.5 d for PFOS and 2 d for PFHxA (Wilson et al., 2020).

Some egg injection studies have shown that PFOS is embryotoxic to domestic chickens (*Gallus gallus domesticus*). In a study by O'Brien et al. (2009), in which chicken eggs were directly injected with 0.1, 5, or 100 µg PFOS/egg into the air cell prior to incubation, the embryo median lethal dose (LD50) was 93 µg/g, however egg injection studies have limited applicability to how embryos are exposed in the environment. Briels et al. (2018) demonstrated that when PFOS was injected into chicken eggs prior to incubation, embryonic survival was not affected, nor were there any effects detected on hatchling weight or oxidative stress parameters.

The poultry studies described above have explicitly assessed and reported health effects in exposed animals, in addition to PFAS tissue concentrations, and are the only livestock studies to have taken this approach.

5.5. Domestic pig studies

PFAS elimination half-lives in pigs are longer than in most animals reported in the literature. Numata et al. (2014) investigated the transfer of a mixture of PFAS from contaminated feed in Germany (hay and barley grown in contaminated soil; range 10-137 µg/kg of feed; fed for 21 d) into the edible tissues of 24 fattening pigs. As percentages of unexcreted PFAS, the substances accumulated in plasma (up to 51%), fat, and muscle tissues (collectively, meat 40-49%), liver (under 7%), and kidney (under 2%) for most substances; an exception was PFOS, with lower affinity for plasma (23%) and higher for liver (35%) (Numata et al., 2014). The authors developed a toxicokinetic model to quantify the absorption, distribution, and excretion of PFAS and to calculate elimination half-lives. PFHxA had the shortest half-life at 4.1 days, whereas the half-life for PFOS was 634 days (Numata et al., 2014). The elimination half-life was influenced by the end functional group, with sulfonic versus carboxylic acid end groups leading to much longer half-lives (irrespective of carbon chain length) (Numata et al., 2014).

Guruge et al. (2016) found the blood half-life after a single oral dose of a mixture of ten PFAS (3 mg/kg bw of each of 10 PFAS) in minipigs ranged from 1.6 to 86.6 days. The liver was the greatest site of accumulation of PFOS and longer chain PFAS such as perfluorodecanoic acid (PFD (e)A), perfluoroundecanoic acid (PFU(nD)A) and perfluorododecanoic acid (PFDoDA). The study authors observed an increasing accumulation trend of PFAS associated with the fluorinated carbon chain length and perfluorononanoic acid (PFNA), a 9-carbon PFAS, showed the highest body burden of the administered PFAS (Guruge et al., 2016).

A recent study investigated the tissue distribution of 8:2 fluorotelomer alcohol (8:2 FTOH) of which a primary metabolite is PFOA, after dosing 30 pigs (70 days old) at 5 mg/kg bw for one week (Xie et al., 2020). The parent compound was not detected in tissues 3 d after exposure cessation but the absolute half-life of PFOA in the kidney was 61.4 days, which was marginally longer than liver half-life, following a peak concentration in kidney and liver of $42 \pm 7.0 \,\mu$ g/kg and $50 \pm 4.8 \,\mu$ g/kg respectively (ww, SD) (Xie et al., 2020). PFOA concentrations in fat, lung and heart were similar after 21 days, and an order of magnitude higher than muscle concentrations (Xie et al., 2020).

5.6. Game bird studies

The dietary and migratory habits of game birds are important considerations for PFAS exposure, for example ducks that feed in the sediment layer are likely to have higher exposure, and determination of the origin of exposure is complex due to movement (Larson et al., 2018).

Work in free-ranging waterfowl is limited, with some studies in wild birds showing relatively low PFAS concentrations, such as mallard and pintail (*Anas acuta*) ducks in Japan (**Table S3**) (Taniyasu et al., 2003). High concentrations of PFAS have been found in liver and muscle samples of ducks hunted in contaminated Australian wetlands (Sharp et al., 2020). Pacific Black (*Anas superciliosa*) and Grey Teal (*Anas gracilis*) ducks from a wetland near a military base had PFOS and PFHxS detected in all liver and muscle samples, with PFOS concentrations approximately 100 times higher than PFHxS (**Table S3**; Senversa, 2018). These concentrations are similar to those seen in liver and serum from great tits (*Parus major*) roosting near a fluorochemical plant in Belgium (Dauwe et al., 2007). Almost all concentrations of PFAS other than PFOS and PFHxS (including PFOA) were below the LOR (0.0002 mg/kg) (Senversa, 2018).

A subsequent state-wide survey of 4 species of duck (Pacific Black duck, Grey Teal, Chestnut Teal (Anas castanea) and Pink-eared duck (Malacorhynchus membraneaceus)) was conducted across 19 wetlands in Victoria, Australia in 2018 and showed relatively lower tissue concentrations (Table S3), but resulted in an advisory notice to avoid or minimise consumption of ducks hunted at three wetlands (EPA, 2019; Sharp et al., 2020). PFOS + PFHxS were detected in 95% of liver samples, whereas PFOA was detected in 29% (Sharp et al., 2020). Relatively higher PFAS concentrations were observed in water and sediments at wetlands near sources of contamination, and even though PFAS concentrations in duck tissues did not necessarily correlate with the environmental samples at all sites, only ducks inhabiting wetlands near local sources of PFAS were deemed likely to pose a risk to consumers (Sharp et al., 2020). This study demonstrates the limitations of using abiotic PFAS criteria to assess risk to biota, due to the complexities of bioaccumulation, movement of animals and spatiotemporal variation (Sharp et al., 2020), which supports the need to sample animal tissues to assess exposure and effects.

5.7. Mammalian game species

Relatively high PFAS concentrations have been reported in European wild boar, with liver as the main site of accumulation. Wild boar feeding behaviour, which includes rooting in soil and access to dumpsites that often contain municipal waste, is likely to influence exposure (EFSA, 2018). Wild pigs (n = 13) sampled near an open waste dumping site in India showed an average PFOS concentration of 71 \pm 70 (SD) µg/kg

ww in adult female liver (n = 7) compared to concentrations at a reference site of 19 ± 8.6 (SD) µg/kg ww (n = 4) (Watanabe et al., 2010).

In 2014, PFOA and PFOS in the liver of German wild boars showed an average ratio of PFOS:PFOA concentration in liver of 21:1 (**Table S3**) (Kowalczyk et al., 2018). Stahl et al. (2012) also reported maximum liver PFOA and PFOS concentrations in German wild boar that were at least an order of magnitude higher than muscle concentrations (**Table S3**). In 2019, PFOS was detected in 25% of muscle samples from wild boar collected in North West Italy at concentrations lower than those reported from Germany (**Table S3**) (Arioli et al., 2019).

Müller et al. (2011) found that tissue distribution of PFAS in caribou/ reindeer (*Rangifer tarandus*) from the Canadian Arctic was similar to that observed in dairy cows. Total PFAS concentrations in muscle and kidney were both approximately one order of magnitude lower than liver (Müller et al., 2011).

A retrospective German study demonstrated a reduction in the mean PFOS concentration in roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) liver from 9.2 µg/kg in 2000 to 1.8 µg/kg ww in 2010 (Falk et al., 2012). The reduction of PFOA was less conspicuous than that of PFOS, but was still significant (Falk et al., 2012). Livers from chamois (*Rupicapra rupicapra*) in Austria in 2016 showed similar mean PFOS concentrations to the 2010 German roe deer samples, with a detection rate of 91% (Riebe et al., 2016). In contrast in 2019, PFOS in muscle samples from 12 roe deer, 24 chamois and 23 red-deer (*Cervus elaphus*) hunted in North West Italy were below the LOQ of 150 pg/g ww (Arioli et al., 2019).

5.8. Synthesis of findings from studies in livestock

In livestock, detrimental health effects were not reported, and are therefore assumed not to have been observed, even at high maximum observed blood plasma PFOS concentrations, including up to 0.24 mg/L in sheep (Kowalczyk et al., 2012), 0.25 mg/L in pigs (Kowalczyk, 2014) and between 2.46 mg/L (Kowalczyk et al., 2013) and 76.3 mg/L (Lupton et al., 2015) in cattle.

While the studies outlined above showed similarities in overall PFAS tissue distribution between species, there are also notable differences that vary by species, to some extent by dose and, to a lesser extent, by sex. For example, in cattle, the shorter-chain PFAS like PFHxS and PFBS have lower accumulation potential compared to the long-chain compounds like PFOS (Lupton et al., 2011, 2014), whereas in chicken eggs PFHxS showed greater accumulation potential than PFOS (Wilson et al., 2020) and ongoing exposure is likely to offer partial explanation for some observed differences. Livestock studies consistently demonstrated that following experimental exposure in cattle (Kowalczyk et al., 2013; Lupton et al., 2014; Lupton et al., 2015), pigs (Numata et al., 2014; Guruge et al., 2016) and chickens (Guruge et al., 2008; Yeung et al., 2009; Yoo et al., 2009), PFAS concentrations in muscle, likely the most commonly consumed animal product, were consistently lower than those measured in offal (primarily liver and blood, but also kidney).

The variation in elimination half-lives within and between livestock and game species is also large and studies showed that elimination generally occurs more rapidly for PFOA compared to PFOS (Table 1). PFAS elimination half-lives in pigs are longer (236 days to 1.7 years, see Table 1) than in most animals reported in the literature (Numata et al., 2014, Guruge et al., 2016). Studies in cattle showed large variation (19.2 h to 3 months, see Table 1) depending on the PFAS chemical and dose, and the age and sex of the study subjects (Vestergren et al., 2013; Lupton et al., 2015; Lupton et al., 2011). Avian elimination of PFAS is more rapid (3.5–160 days, see Table 1) than mammals and in laying hens, PFAS transfer to eggs is almost exclusively as PFOS in the yolk (Wilson et al., 2020).

Experiments in sheep, chickens and steers showed an initial increase of PFOS concentrations in plasma after dosing stopped (Kowalczyk et al., 2012; Lupton et al., 2011; Yeung et al., 2009), indicating slow excretion, enterohepatic circulation, and continued release of accumulated chemical from other organs prior to steady state being achieved and the commencement of depuration. However, PFAS concentrations in these species began (i.e. within days (Yeung et al., 2009) to weeks (Kowalczyk et al., 2012)) relatively predictable declines soon after exposure ceased, providing a management opportunity for depuration with uncontaminated feed and water.

Excretion of some PFAS into eggs was demonstrated to be a major excretory pathway for laying hens, explaining the differences between elimination half-lives in female (Wilson et al., 2020) and male chickens (Tarazona et al., 2015). However, after PFAS exposure ceased in laying hens, concentrations in eggs declined to undetectable concentrations within several weeks (Wilson et al., 2020). While PFAS excretion in cattle and sheep milk has been demonstrated, PFAS is not preferentially excreted or concentrated in milk (van Asselt et al., 2013; Kowalczyk et al., 2012; Kowalczyk et al., 2013). For example, during the 21-day feeding period in two sheep, a total PFOS transfer into milk of $\leq 2\%$ of the estimated intake dose was calculated (Kowalczyk et al., 2012).

6. PFAS in animal products - the food chain

Product sampling studies have concurred with the livestock experimental data in showing that muscle concentrations are lower than those measured in offal (see **Table S3**). While offal and blood are not very popular diet components, the propensity for PFAS to accumulate in these protein rich tissues warrants particular attention (Sznajder-Katarzyńska et al., 2019). A study by Hlouskova et al. (2013) of PFAS in a small sample of various food animals from four European countries showed that the PFAS concentrations in the analyzed food commodities from terrestrial species decreased in the following order: pig/bovine liver > egg > meat > dairy products (butter). Unfortunately, most animal product testing has occurred without any knowledge of antemortem PFAS exposure concentrations.

6.1. Liver

One of the reasons for the preferential accumulation of PFAS in liver is that it is the main site of plasma albumin synthesis, and PFAS bind very effectively to plasma albumin (Lau, 2015). In a recent Chinese study, beef liver showed mean total PFAS concentrations that were over 60-fold higher than beef muscle (Table S3) (Wang et al., 2017). In chickens, PFOS first accumulates in the liver, after which it is redistributed into the blood and kidney for elimination (Yoo et al., 2009; Yeung et al., 2009) and elimination via eggs is also very important (Wilson et al., 2020). A comparative study of Japanese farm animals exposed to ambient concentrations of PFAS showed that chicken liver contained the highest PFOS concentrations compared to cattle, pig and goat liver (Guruge et al., 2008). In pigs, PFAS that were not measurable in other tissues were still measurable in liver, so Numata et al. (2014) suggest sampling liver in porcine monitoring programs. A Chinese study from 2010 showed the total PFAS concentrations were 30 times higher in liver from pigs compared to chickens (Table S3) (Wang et al., 2010b). The relative proportions of PFOA and PFOS in pig liver samples have been different across studies, with Chen et al. (2018) finding much higher concentrations of PFOA than PFOS in Taiwanese liver samples, and Wang et al. (2010b) finding the opposite in Chinese retail samples.

Recently, EFSA (2018) reported that PFOS and PFOA concentrations were particularly high for liver samples of game mammals, especially wild boar, with the maximum PFOS concentrations being two orders of magnitude higher than PFOA concentrations (**Table S3**), and PFOA concentrations in the edible offal of European farmed animals were much lower than wild boar liver (EFSA, 2018). Zafeiraki et al. (2016a) sampled livers from farmed (i.e. ambient exposure only) sheep, horses, cows, pigs and chickens collected from the Dutch market. PFOS was the only measurable PFAS and its concentration was higher in free ranging animals like cows and sheep, nevertheless measured concentrations of

PFOS in the liver samples were very low (**Table S3**) (Zafeiraki et al., 2016a).

6.2. Blood

The two tissues with the higest PFAS concentrations are the liver and the blood (Kudo, 2015), and studies outlined above in livestock have shown this proportion varies bewteen species. Experimental studies in cattle have shown PFOS to have the highest relative plasma concentrations of studied PFAS compounds (Lupton et al., 2015). In a Japanese study, mean sera concentrations of PFOS were seen in descending order in chickens > cattle > and pigs (**Table S3**) (Guruge et al., 2008). Numata et al. (2014) showed that in pigs, compared to cows and sheep, PFAS had an even higher affinity for blood over other tissues. Male chickens, when compared to dairy cows, showed a greater tendency to accumulate PFOA and PFOS in the blood, and a more rapid elimination of PFOA from blood (Kowalczyk, 2014). The affinity of PFAS compounds for blood indicates that dietary practices where blood contributes a significant portion should be evaluated as part of determining human exposure risk.

6.3. Kidney

Across experimental animal species, concentrations of PFAS are generally lower in the kidney compared to the blood and liver (Roberts, 2016), but PFHxS concentrations in kidney were relatively higher than other tissues in one dairy cattle study (Kowalczyk et al., 2013). When comparing concentrations of PFAS in different livestock tissues, primarily in pigs (Wang et al., 2010b; Xie et al., 2020) and poultry (Yoo et al., 2009), there is a pattern of preferential binding of PFOA in renal tissues, compared to blood or liver. In 20 Chinese retail samples of pork kidney in 2010, the maximum PFOA concentration was an order of magnitude higher than the maximum PFOS concentration (**Table S3**) (Wang et al., 2010b).

6.4. Eggs

Newsted et al. (2007) noted from their studies in mallard ducks (Anas platyrhynchos) and northern bobwhite quail (Colinus virginianus) that due to transfer to eggs in female birds, concentrations of PFOS measured in the liver and blood at study termination were greater in male birds compared to female birds. Zafeiraki et al. (2016b) found that PFAS concentrations in yolk were higher in home produced eggs from the Netherlands and Greece compared to supermarket eggs, which they hypothesized was due to access to soil and kitchen waste. To assess the risk of PFAS exposure to consumers from eggs laid by backyard chickens, Wilson et al. (2020) studied 119, 30-week old layers dosed with up to 300 μ g/L of PFAS in water. The study showed that the vast majority of the PFAS (PFOS, PFOA, PFHxS and PFHxA) excretion in eggs is via the yolk and that once chicken PFAS exposure ceases, PFAS concentrations in the eggs laid by those chickens progressively reduce to below the Laboratory Limit of Reporting (LOR) within two to three weeks (Wilson et al., 2020). Wang et al. (2010b) also reported that close to 100% of the PFOS in the egg was distributed in egg yolk.

6.5. Milk

PFAS transfer from feed to milk has been confirmed in cattle (van Asselt et al., 2013; Kowalczyk et al., 2013) and sheep (Kowalczyk et al., 2012) and these studies showed species-specific differences in the transfer of PFAS from serum to milk. For PFOA, Kowalczyk et al. (2012, 2013) state the milk/serum concentration ratio was higher in dairy cows compared with sheep. For PFOS, the ratio in sheep was approximately 0.06, compared to 0.013 in cattle (Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013). Different PFAS also showed quite different milk elimination patterns in both cattle and sheep; PFOS and PFHxS were excreted in milk at

higher concentrations than PFBS and PFOA (Kowalczyk et al., 2012, 2013).

6.6. Muscle/meat

Measured concentrations of PFAS in muscle/meat are generally lower than concentrations in blood and offal. Kowalczyk et al. (2013) showed that in dairy cattle, PFOA concentrations in muscle were one hundredth of the concentrations in the liver, and PFOS concentrations in muscle were one tenth of the concentrations in the liver. In pigs, PFOS concentrations were an order of magnitude lower in pork muscle compared to liver, but PFOA concentrations were similar between these two tissues (**Table S3**) (Chen et al., 2018). In one study conducted in Australia, PFOS + PFHxS concentrations in duck breast muscle samples were approximately nine times lower than the corresponding liver concentrations (Senversa, 2018).

7. Conclusion

This review has compiled known information about PFAS in livestock and game species, as a source of dietary exposure in humans, and briefly summarised adverse health effects in experimental animal studies. Broader collection and publication of baseline data in livestock and game species is required to enable development of predictive models on the uptake and elimination of PFAS, and transfer to edible tissues. This would enable more accurate risk-based management of PFAS exposure in humans via livestock and game animals. One key gap in the literature has been that very few studies assessed if any detrimental effects on welfare or production occurred due to PFAS exposure. Thus it is suggested that future research measure both PFAS dynamics and potential detrimental health effects in livestock and game animals.

While the only conclusive evidence of health effects of PFAS in animals are from high dose studies and exposure scenarios, there remains concern globally about potential human and animal health effects of these widely distributed, persistent chemicals. Multiple studies have asserted that PFAS consumption by humans in food and water is the most significant route of exposure, and this is likely the same in livestock and game species. Applying the precautionary principle, food regulators wish to understand the potential risks to the human population from consumption of PFAS in livestock and game products.

As there are only two to five studies per livestock species published in the international scientific literature, with low sample sizes and dosing regimes that do not necessarily reflect environmental relevance, there is uncertainty with respect to the tissue distribution and clearance information. It is therefore difficult to assess human health risks associated with the consumption of livestock products with a high degree of certainty. More research into the concentrations of PFAS in livestock and game populations is required globally, to better understand the potential transfer of these chemicals into the human food chain. There are many PFAS, and PFAA precursors, which are known to be widely distributed in the environment that still require investigation in livestock and game species, and the use of total fluorine measurements could be explored. Further detailed studies into the pharmacokinetics of PFAS in livestock, and more comprehensive approaches to health assessment of exposed stock, are also necessary. In addition, assessment of new (or replacement) PFAS should continue, preferably prior to their large-scale use to ensure new PFAS chemicals are less harmful than the original longer perfluorocarbon chain compounds (e.g. PFOS and PFOA) (Briels et al., 2018).

Additional clearance and tissue distribution data in livestock are required to enable confident assessment of potential tissue concentrations via non-invasive serum sampling. Determination of serum/tissue partition coefficients enables prediction of body burdens of various PFAS from blood serum samples in various classes of stock. Such data enable appropriate management of PFAS exposed livestock. Generally, livestock will eliminate PFAS over time if the contaminated source (e.g. stock water) is removed (EPA Vic, 2020). It is important to Understanding concentrations of PFAS in the edible tissues of game species is also important for public health, and data currently being collected at contaminated locations will enable informed management of hunting. From an animal health perspective, further work will be needed to demonstrate whether PFAS cause toxic effects on free-living vertebrates (Costantini et al., 2019). Collection of additional data in livestock and game species (and their relevant exposure media) could also enable development of pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic models on the oral uptake and elimination of PFAS in different tissues, which could then be used to potentially estimate uptake and concentrations in edible tissues (van Asselt et al., 2011).

Once the transfer of PFAS through the food chain can be quantified, it will enable the effect of future pollution events on the consumer to be characterised using parameterised food chain models, which would allow the responsible authorities to take appropriate measures to ensure consumer confidence and health.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the Victorian Government Library Service for their assistance with compiling the original literature assessed in this review, and two anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144795.

References

- Ahrens, L., Yamashita, N., Yeung, L.W.Y., Taniyasu, S., Horii, Y., Lam, P.K.S., Ebinghaus, R., 2009. Partitioning behavior of per- and polyfluoroalkyl compounds between pore water and sediment in two sediment cores from Tokyo Bay, Japan. Environmental Science & Technology 43 (18), 6969–6975.
- Arioli, F., Ceriani, F., Nobile, M., Vigano, R., Besozzi, M., Panseri, S., Chiesa, L.M., 2019. Presence of organic halogenated compounds, organophosphorus insecticides and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in meat of different game animal species from an Italian subalpine area. Food Additives and Contaminants Part A-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment 36, 1244–1252.
- van Asselt et al. 2011 Perfluorooctane sulphate (PFOS) throughout the food production chain Food Chemistry, 218, 1–6.
- van Asselt, et al., 2013. Transfer of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) from contaminated feed to dairy milk. Food Chemistry 141 (2013), 1489–1495.
- ATSDR (2018) Toxicological profile for Perfluoroalkyls. (Draft for Public Comment). Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ toxprofiles/tp.asp?id=1117&tid=237
- Australian Government, 2020. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) Australian Information Portal. Australian Government PFAS Taskforce. https://www.pfas.gov.au/ about-pfas/substances.
- Benskin, Jonathan P., De Silva, Amila O., Martin, Leah J., Arsenault, Gilles, McCrindle, Robert, Riddell, Nicole, Mabury, Scott A., Martin, Jonathan W., 2009. Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-Dawley rats; part 1: single dose. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28, 542–567.
- Biegel, L., Hurtt, M., Frame, S., O'Connor, J., Cook, J., 2001. Mechanisms of extrahepatic tumor induction by peroxisome proliferators in male CD rats. Toxicol. Sci. 60 (1), 44–55. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/60.1.44.
- Bogdanska, J., Borg, D., Sundström, M., Bergström, U., Halldin, K., Abedi-Valugerdi, M., Bergman, Å., Nelson, B., DePierre, J., Nobel, S., 2011. Tissue distribution of 35Slabelled perfluorooctane sulfonate in adult mice after oral exposure to a low environmentally relevant dose or a high experimental dose. Toxicology 284, 54–62.
- Boiteux, V., Dauchy, X., Bach, C., Colin, A., Hemard, J., Sagres, V., Rosin, C., Munoz, J.-F., 2017. Concentrations and patterns of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in a river and three drinking water treatment plants near and far from a major production source. Sci. Total Environ. 583, 393–400.

- Brambilla, G., D'Hollander, W., Oliaei, F., Stahl, T., Weber, R., 2015. Pathways and factors for food safety and food security at PFOS contaminated sites within a problem based learning approach. Chemosphere 129, 192–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2014.09.050.
- Brambilla, G., Abate, V., Battacone, G., De Filippis, S.P., Esposito, M., Esposito, V., Miniero, R., 2016. Potential impact on food safety and food security from persistent organic pollutants in top soil improvers on Mediterranean pasture. Sci. Total Environ. 543, 581–590.
- Briels, Nathalie, Tomasz M. Ciesielski, Dorte Herzke, and Veerle L. B. Jaspers. "Developmental Toxicity of Perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and Its Chlorinated Polyfluoroalkyl Ether Sulfonate Alternative F-53B in the Domestic Chicken." *Environmental Science & Technology* 52, no. 21 (November 6, 2018): 12859–67. doi:10.1021/ acs.est.8b04749.
- Brusseau, M.L., Anderson, R.H., Guo, B., 2020. PFAS concentrations in soils: background levels versus contaminated sites. Sci. Total Environ. 740, 140017.
- Buck, R.C., Franklin, J., Berger, U., Conder, J.M., Cousins, I.T., de Voogt, P., ... van Leeuwen, S.P., 2011. Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl Substances in the Environment: Terminology, Classification, and Origins. Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management 7 (4), 513–541. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.258.
- Butenhoff, J.L., Kennedy, G.L., Hinderliter, P.M., Lieder, P.H., Jung, R., Hansen, K.J., Gorman, G.S., Noker, P.E., Thomford, P.J., 2004. Pharmacokinetics of perfluorooctanoate in cynomolgus monkeys. Toxicol. Sci. 82, 394–406.
- Butenhoff, J.L., Bjork, J.A., Chang, S.-C., Ehresman, D.J., Parker, G.A., Das, K., Lau, C., Lieder, P.H., van Otterdijk, F.M., Wallace, K.B., 2012a. Toxicological evaluation of ammonium perfluorobutyrate in rats: Twenty-eight-day and ninety-day oral gavage studies. Reprod. Toxicol. 33, 513–530.
- Butenhoff, J.L., Chang, S.C., Olsen, G.W., et al., 2012b. Chronic dietary toxicity and carcinogenicity study with potassium perfluorooctanesulfonate in Sprague Dawley rats. Toxicology 293 (1–3), 1–15.
- Chang, S.C., Noker, P.E., Gorman, G.S., Gibson, S.J., Hart, J.A., Ehresman, D.J., Butenhoff, J.L., 2012. Comparative pharmacokinetics of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats, mice, and monkeys. Reprod. Toxicol. 33, 428–440.
- Chen, W.-L., Bai, F.-Y., Chang, Y.-C., Chen, P.-C., Chen, C.-Y., 2018. Concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in foods and the dietary exposure among Taiwan general population and pregnant women. J. Food Drug Anal. 26, 994–1004.
- Conder, J.M., Hoke, R.A., de Wolf, W., Russell, M.H., Buck, R.C., 2008. Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with persistent lipophilic compounds. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 995e1003.
- Costantini, D., Blévin, P., Herzke, D., Moe, B., Gabrielsen, G.W., Bustnes, J.O., Chastel, O., 2019. Higher plasma oxidative damage and lower plasma antioxidant defences in an Arctic seabird exposed to longer perfluoroalkyl acids. Environ. Res. 168, 278–285.
- CRC CARE (2016) A human health review of PFOS and PFOA, CRC CARE Technical Report no. 42, CRC for Contamination Assessment and Remediation of the Environment, Newcastle, Australia.
- Crebelli, R., Caiola, S., Conti, L., Cordelli, E., De Luca, G., Dellatte, E., Eleuteri, P., et al., 2019. Can sustained exposure to PFAS trigger a Genotoxic response? A comprehensive genotoxicity assessment in mice after subacute oral administration of PFOA and PFBA. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 106, 169–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yrtph.2019.05.005.
- Cui, L., Liao, C.-Y., Zhou, Q.-F., Xia, T.-M., Yun, Z.-J., Jiang, G.-B., 2010. Excretion of PFOA and PFOS in male rats during a subchronic exposure. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 58, 205–213.
- Cui, Q., Shi, F., Pan, Y., Zhang, H., Dai, J., 2019. Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in the blood of two Colobine monkey species from China: occurrence and exposure pathways. Sci. Total Environ. 674, 524–531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.118.
- Custer, C.M., Custer, T.W., Dummer, P.M., et al., 2014. Exposure and effects of perfluoroalkyl substances in tree swallows nesting in Minnesota and Wisconsin, USA. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 66, 120–138.
- D'Agostino, L.A., Mabury, S.A., 2017. Certain perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances associated with aqueous film forming foam are widespread in Canadian surface waters. Environmental Science & Technology 51 (23), 13603–13613.
- Dauwe, T., van de Vijver, K., de Coen, W., Eens, M., 2007. PFOS levels in the blood and liver of a small insectivorous songbird near a fluorochemical plant. Environ. Int. 33, 357–361.
- De Silva, A.O., Amila, O., Benskin, J.P., Martin, L.J., Arsenault, G., McCrindle, R., Riddell, N., Martin, J.W., Mabury, S.A., 2009. Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-dawley rats; part 2: subchronic dose. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28, 555–567.
- DoD (2020) Australian Government Department of Defence, PFAS Investigation and Management program. https://www.defence.gov.au/Environment/PFAS/Default.asp
- DoER, 2016. Interim Guideline on the Assessment and Management of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) - Contaminated Sites Guidelines. Perth, Western Australia, Government of Western Australia Department of Environment Regulation Available at:. https://www.der.wa.gov.au/images/documents/your-environment/ contaminated-sites/guidelines/Guideline-on-Assessment-and-Management-of-PFAS-.pdf.
- Domingo, J.L., Nadal, M., 2017. Per-and Polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in food and human dietary intake: a review of the recent scientific literature. J. Agric. Food Chem. 65 (3), 533–543.
- Domingo, J.L., Nadal, M., 2019. Human exposure to per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) through drinking water: a review of the recent scientific literature. Environ. Res. 177, 108648.
- EFSA (2018) European Food Safety Authority CONTAM Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain), Knutsen HK, Alexander J, Barreg_ard L, Bignami M, Bréuschweiler B, Ceccatelli S, Cottrill B, Dinovi M, Edler L, Grasl-Kraupp B, Hogstrand C, Hoogenboom LR, Nebbia CS, Oswald IP, Petersen A, Rose M, Roudot A-C, Vleminckx C, Vollmer G, Wallace H, Bodin L, Cravedi J-P, Halldorsson TI, Haug LS, Johansson N, van Loveren

H, Gergelova P, Mackay K, Levorato S, van Manen M and Schwerdtle T (2018). Scientific Opinion on the risk to human health related to the presence of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and perfluorooctanoic acid in food. EFSA Journal;16(12):5194, 284 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5194

- EFSA (2020) Risk to human health related to the presence of perfluoroalkyl substances in food. https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/6223
- EPA Vic, 2019. PFAS in Victorian Waterfowl Investigation of the Presence of PFAS in 19 Wetlands in Victoria, Environment Protection Authority Victoria Publication 1734. March 2019. https://ref.epa.vic.gov.au/~/media/Publications/1734.pdf.
- EPA Vic (2020) PFAS in the environment. https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/for-community/environmental-information/pfas/pfas-in-the-environment
- Falk, S., Brunn, H., Schröter-Kermani, C., Failing, K., Georgii, S., Tarricone, K., Stahl, T., 2012. Temporal and spatial trends of perfluoroalkyl substances in liver of roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*). Environ. Pollut. 171, 1–8.
- Fernandes, A.R., Lake, I.R., Dowding, A., Rose, M., Jones, N.R., Petch, R., Smith, F., Panton, S., 2019. The potential of recycled materials used in agriculture to contaminate food through uptake by livestock. Sci. Total Environ. 667, 359–370.
- FSANZ, 2016. Assessment of Potential Dietary Exposure to Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS), Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorohexane Sulfonate (PFHxS) Occurring in Foods Sampled from Contaminated Sites. Food Standards Australia New Zealand. https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/ 2200FE086D480353CA2580C900817CDC/\$File/Dietary-Exposure-Assesment.pdf.
- FSANZ (2017) Health Based Guidance Values for Per- and Poly-Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS). 14 September 2017. Accessed 08/06/2018. Available: http://www.health. gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ohp-pfas-hbgv.htm
- Gallen, C., Drage, D., Eaglesham, G., Grant, S., Bowman, M., Mueller, J.F., 2017. Australiawide assessment of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in landfill leachates. J. Hazard. Mater. 331, 132–141.
- Ghisi, R., Vamerali, T., Manzetti, S., 2019. Accumulation of perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) in agricultural plants: a review. Environ. Res. 169, 326–341.
- Giesy, J.P., Kannan, K., 2001. Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (7), 1339–1342.
- Glynn, A., Berger, U., Bignert, A., Ullah, S., Aune, M., Lignell, S., Darnerud, P.O., 2012. Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996–2010. Environmental Science & Technology. 46, 9071–9079.
- Goosey, E., Harrad, S., 2012. Perfluoroalkyl substances in UK indoor and outdoor air: spatial and seasonal variation, and implications for human exposure. Environ. Int. 45, 86–90.
- Groffen, Thimo, Lasters, Robin, Lopez-Antia, Ana, Prinsen, Els, Bervoets, Lieven, Eens, Marcel, 2019. Limited reproductive impairment in a passerine bird species exposed along a Perfluoroalkyl Acid (PFAA) pollution gradient. Sci. Total Environ. 652, 718–728. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.273.
- Guruge, K.S., Manage, P.M., Yamanaka, N., Miyazaki, S., Taniyasu, S., Yamashita, N., 2008. Species-specific concentrations of perfluoroalkyl contaminants in farm and pet animals in Japan. Chemosphere 73, S210–S215.
- Guruge, K.S., Noguchi, M., Yoshioka, K., Yamazaki, E., Taniyasu, S., Yoshioka, M., ... Yamashita, N., 2016. Microminipigs as a new experimental animal model for toxicological studies: comparative pharmacokinetics of perfluoroalkyl acids. Journal of Applied Toxicology 36 (1), 68–75.
- Hanhijärvi, H., Ylinen, M., Haaranen, T., Nevalainen, T., 1988. A Proposed Species Difference in the Renal Excretion of Perfluoro Octanoic Acid in the Beagle Dog and Rat. In New developments in biosciences: Their implications for laboratory animal science (pp. 409–412)Springer, Dordrecht.
- PFAS National Environmental Management Plan Version 2.0, Heads of EPA Australia and New Zealand.. (Accessed 20 August 2020)
- Hlouskova, V., Hradkova, P., Poustka, J., et al., 2013. Occurrence of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in various food items of animal origin collected in four European countries. Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A 30 (11), 1918–1932.
- Houde, M., De Silva, A.O., Muir, D.C., Letcher, R.J., 2011. Monitoring of perfluorinated compounds in aquatic biota: an updated review. Environ. Sci.Technol. 45 (19), 7962–7973. https://doi.org/10.1021/es104326w.
- Hundley, S.G., Sarrif, A.M., Kennedy, G.L., 2006. Absorption, distribution, and excretion of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) after oral administration to various species. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 29, 137–145.
- Jian, J.M., Guo, Y., Zeng, L., Liang-Ying, L., Lu, X., Wang, F., Zeng, E.Y., 2017. Global distribution of perfluorochemicals (PFCs) in potential human exposure source–a review. Environ. Int. 108, 51–62.
- Jiang, Q., Gao, H., Zhang, L., 2015. Metabolic effects PFAS. In: DeWitt, J. (Ed.), Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. Molecular and Integrative Toxicology. Humana Press, Springer International, Switzerland.
- Johnson, JD, and RE Ober. 1979. "Absorption of FC-95-14C in rats after a single oral dose." In.: 3M. Submitted to the US Environmental Protection Agency's Administrative Record. AR226-0007.
- Kato, K., Ye, X., Calafat, A.M., 2015. PFASs in the general population. In: DeWitt, J. (Ed.), Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. Molecular and Integrative Toxicology. Humana Press, Springer International, Switzerland.
- Kelly, B.C., Ikonomou, M.G., Blair, J.D., Surridge, B., Hoover, D., Grace, R., Gobas, F. a. P. C., 2009. Perfluoroalkyl contaminants in an Arctic marine food web: trophic magnification and wildlife exposure. Environmental Science & Technology 43, 4037.
- Kemper, RA. 2003. Perfluorooctanoic acid: toxicokinetics in the rat. In: Association of Plastic Manufacturers of Europe. Submitted to the US Environmental Protection Agency's Administrative Record. AR226-1499. Unpublished report, DuPont-7473, as cited in Butenhoff 2004.
- Kowalczyk, J. (2014). "Übergang von Perfluoroctansäure (PFOA) und Perfluoroctansulfonsäure (PFOS) aus kontaminierten Futtermitteln in ausgewählte

Gewebe des Mastschweins und der Legehenne." In.: Dissertation vorgelegt von Janine Kowalczyk. Eingereicht an der Landwirtschaftlich-Gärtnerischen Fakultät der Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades doctor rerum agriculturarum. http://www.bfr.bund.de/cm/350/uebergang-von-perfluoroctansaeure-pfoa-und-perfluoroctansulfonsaeure-pfos.pdf.

- Kowalczyk, J., et al., 2012. Transfer of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) from contaminated feed into milk and meat of sheep: pilot study. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 63 (2), 288–298.
- Kowalczyk, J., et al., 2013. Absorption, distribution, and milk secretion of the perfluoroalkyl acids PFBS, PFHxS, PFOS and PFOA by dairy cows fed naturally contaminated feed. J.Agric.Food.Chem. 2013 (61), 2903–2912.
- Kowalczyk, J., Numata, J., Zimmermann, B., Klinger, R., Habedank, F., Just, P., Schafft, H., Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M., 2018. Suitability of wild boar (*Sus scrofa*) as a bioindicator for environmental pollution with Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Perfluorooctanesulfonic Acid (PFOS). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 75, 594–606.
- Kudo, N., 2015. Chapter 6: metabolism and pharmacokinetics. In: DeWlitt, J.C. (Ed.), Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. Molecular and Integrative Toxicology. Humana Press Springer, Switzerland, pp. 151–176.
- Larson, E.S., Conder, J.M., Arblaster, J.A., 2018. Modelling avian exposures to perfluoroalkyl substances in aquatic habitats impacts by historical aqueous film forming foam releases. Chemosphere 201, 335–341.
- Lau, C., 2015. Perfluorinated compounds: an overview. In: DeWlitt, J.C. (Ed.), Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances, Molecular and Integrative Toxicology. Switzerland, Springer International.
- Lau, C., Thibodeaux, J.R., Hanson, R.G., et al., 2003. Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. Toxicol. Sci. 74 (2), 382–392.
- Li, X., Dong, S., Zhang, W., Fan, X., Wang, R., Wang, P., Su, X., 2019a. The occurrence of perfluoroalkyl acids in an important feed material (fishmeal) and its potential risk through the farm-to-fork pathway to humans. J. Hazard. Mater. 367, 559–567.
- Li, Danyang, Zhang, Linchao, Zhang, Yan, Guan, Shuo, Gong, Xincheng, Wang, Xiaodan, 2019b. Maternal exposure to Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) causes liver toxicity through PPAR-α pathway and lowered histone acetylation in female offspring mice. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, May 7. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11356-019-05258-z.
- Lieder, Paul H., Chang, Shu-Ching, York, Raymond G., Butenhoff, John L., 2009a. Toxicological evaluation of potassium perfluorobutanesulfonate in a 90-day oral gavage study with Sprague–Dawley rats. Toxicology 255, 45–52.
- Lieder, Paul H., York, Raymond G., Hakes, Daniel C., Chang, Shu-Ching, Butenhoff, John L., 2009b. A two-generation oral gavage reproduction study with potassium perfluorobutanesulfonate (K+PFBS) in Sprague Dawley rats. Toxicology 259, 33–45.
- Lou, Inchio, Wambaugh, John F., Lau, Christopher, Hanson, Roger G., Lindstrom, Andrew B., Strynar, Mark J., Dan Zehr, R., Woodrow Setzer, R., Barton, Hugh A., 2009. Modeling single and repeated dose pharmacokinetics of PFOA in mice. Toxicol. Sci. 107, 331–341.
- Lu, Hemin, Zhang, Huishan, Gao, Jie, Li, Zhaohui, Bao, Suhao, Chen, Xianwu, Wang, Yiyan, Ge, Renshan, Ye, Leping, July 1, 2019. Effects of Perfluorooctanoic acid on stem Leydig cell functions in the rat. Environ. Pollut. 250, 206–215.
- Luebker, Deanna J., Case, Marvin T., York, Raymond G., Moore, John A., Hansen, Kristen J., Butenhoff, John L., 2005a. Two-generation reproduction and cross-foster studies of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats. Toxicology 215, 126–148.
- Luebker, Deanna J., York, Raymond G., Hansen, Kristen J., Moore, John A., Butenhoff, John L., 2005b. Neonatal mortality from in utero exposure to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in Sprague–Dawley rats: dose–response, and biochemical and pharamacokinetic parameters. Toxicology 215, 149–169.
- Lupton, Sara J., Huwe, Janice K., Smith, David J., Dearfield, Kerry L., Johnston, John J., 2011. Absorption and excretion of 14C-Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) in Angus Cattle (Bos taurus). J. Agric. Food Chem. 60, 1128–1134.
- Lupton, Sara J., Huwe, Janice K., Smith, David J., Dearfield, Kerry L., Johnston, John J., 2014. Distribution and excretion of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) in beef cattle (Bos taurus). J. Agric. Food Chem. 62, 1167–1173.
- Lupton, Sara J., Dearfield, Kerry L., Johnston, John J., Wagner, Sarah, Huwe, Janice K., 2015. Perfluorooctane sulfonate plasma half-life determination and long-term tissue distribution in beef cattle (Bos taurus). J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 10988–10994.
- Möller, A., Ahrens, L., Surm, R., Westerveld, J., van der Wielen, F., Ebinghaus, R., de Voogt, P., 2010. Distribution and sources of polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in the River Rhine watershed, *Environmental Pollution*. Volume 158 (10), 3243–3250.
- Muir, D., Bossi, R., Carlsson, P., Evans, M., De Silva, A., Halsall, C., Rauert, C., Herzke, D., Hung, H., Letcher, R., Rigét, F., Roos, A., 2019. Levels and trends of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in the Arctic environment – an update. Emerging Contaminants 5, 240–271.
- Müller, C.E., De Silva, A.O., Small, J., Williamson, M., Wang, X., Morris, A., Katz, S., Gamberg, M., Muir, D.C.G., 2011. Biomagnification of Perfluorinated compounds in a remote terrestrial food chain: Lichen–Caribou–Wolf. Environmental Science & Technology 45, 8665–8673.
- Newsted, J.L., Beach, S.A., Gallagher, S.P., Giesy, J.P., 2006. Pharmacokinetics and acute lethality of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) to juvenile mallard and northern bobwhite. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 50, 411–420.
- Newsted, J.L., Coady, K.K., Beach, S.A., Butenhoff, J.L., Gallagher, S., Giesy, J.P., 2007. Effects of perfluorooctane sulfonate on mallard and northern bobwhite quail exposed chronically via the diet. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 23, 1–9.
- Newsted, J.L., Beach, S.A., Gallagher, S.P., Giesy, J.P., 2008. Acute and chronic effects of perfluorobutane sulfonate (PFBS) on the mallard and northern bobwhite quail. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 54, 535–545.
- NHMRC. 2018. "Per-fluoroalkyl and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS)." Fact Sheet in NHMRC (2011), updated in August 2018. Australian Drinking Water Guidelines.

National Health and Medical Research Council. https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/sites/de-fault/files/documents/Fact%20Sheet%20-%20PER-FLUOROALKYL%20AND%20POLY-FLUOROALKYL%20SUBSTANCES%20(PFAS).pdf

- NTP, 2020. NTP Technical Report on the Toxicology and Carcinogenesis Studies of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (CASRN 335–67-1) Administered in Feed to Sprague Dawley (Hsd:Sprague Dawley® SD®) Rats: Technical Report 598 May 2020. U.S. Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program, Research Triangle Park.
- Numata, J., Kowalczyk, J., Adolphs, J., Ehlers, S., Schafft, H., Fuerst, P., Müller-Graf, C., Lahrssen-Wiederholt, M., Greiner, M., 2014. Toxicokinetics of seven perfluoroalkyl sulfonic and carboxylic acids in pigs fed a contaminated diet. J. Agric. Food Chem. 62, 6861–6870.
- O'Brien et al. 2009 Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) toxicity in domestic chicken (*Gallus Gallus domesticus*) embryos in the absence of effects on peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha (PPARα)-regulated genes Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C 149 (2009) 524–530.
- OECD, 2002. Hazard Assessment of Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) and its Salts. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/risk-assessment/2382880.pdf.
- OECD/UNEP, 2013. Synthesis Paper of per and Poly Fluorinated Chemicals (PFCs). Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development and United Nations Environment Program Global PFC Group. https://www.oecd.org/chemicalsafety/riskmanagement/synthesis-paper-on-per-and-polyfluorinated-chemicals.htm.
- Ohmori, K., Kudo, N., Katayama, K., Kawashima, Y., 2003. Comparison of the toxicokinetics between perfluorocarboxylic acids with different carbon chain length. Toxicology 184 (2–3), 135–140.
- Onel, S.E., Sungur, S., Koroglu, M., 2018. Determination of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) in livestock feeds. South African Journal of Animal Science 48, 1042–1048.
- Pizzurro, D.M., Seeley, M., Kerper, L.E., Beck, B.D., 2019. Interspecies differences in perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) toxicokinetics and application to health-based criteria. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 106, 239–250.
- Rahman, M.F., Peldszus, S., Anderson, W.B., 2014. Behaviour and fate of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in drinking water treatment: a review. Water Res. 50, 318–340.
- Reiner, J.L., Place, B.J., 2015. Perfluorinated alkyl acids in wildlife. In: DeWitt, J. (Ed.), Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances. Molecular and Integrative Toxicology. Humana Press, Cham.
- Riebe, R.A., Falk, S., Georgii, S., Brunn, H., Failing, K., Stahl, T., 2016. Perfluoroalkyl acid concentrations in livers of Fox (Vulpes vulpes) and Chamois (Rupicapra rupicapra) from Germany and Austria. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 71 (1), 7–15.
- Roberts, M., 2016. A Critical Review of Pharmacokinetic Modelling of PFOS and PFOA to Assist in Establishing HGBVs for these Chemicals. University of Queensland. Prepared for Food Standards Australia New Zealand, Therapeutics Research Centre https:// www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/ 2200FE086D480353CA2580C900817CDC/\$File/7.Critical-Review-Pharmacokinetic-

Modelling.pdf.

- SC (2019) All POPs listed in the Stockholm Convention, http://chm.pops.int/ TheConvention/ThePOPs/AllPOPs/tabid/2509/Default.aspx
- Seacat, A.M., Thomford, P.J., Hansen, K.J., Olsen, G.W., Case, M.T., Butenhoff, J.L., 2002. Subchronic toxicity studies on perfluorooctanesulfonate potassium salt in cynomolgus monkeys. Toxicol. Sci. 68, 249–264.
- Senversa (2018). Interim Human Health and Ecological Risk Assessment: RAAF Base East Sale – Per- and Poly-fluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) Investigations. Prepared for the Department of Defence, Canberra, 5 December 2017. https://www.defence.gov.au/ Environment/PFAS/docs/EastSale/Reports/RAAFEastSaleFinalHHERAReportBody.pdf
- Sepulvado, J.G., Blaine, A.C., Hundal, H.S., Higgins, C.P., 2011. Occurrence and fate of perfluorochemicals in soil following the land application of municipal biosolids. Environ Sci Technol 45, 8106–8112.
- Sharp, S., Sardiña, P., Metzeling, L., Mckenzie, R., Leahy, P., Menkhorst, P., Hinwood, A., 2020. Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in ducks and the relationship with concentrations in water, sediment, and soil. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4818.
- Sleep, J.A., Juhasz, A.L., 2020. Perfluoroalkyl, fluorotelomer sulfonate, and perfluorooctane sulfonamide contamination in biosolids: composition, co-contamination and re-use implications. Environ. Pollut. 266, 115120.
- Spliethoff, H.M., Tao, L., Shaver, S.M., Aldous, K.M., Pass, K.A., Kannan, K., Eadon, G.A., 2008. Use of newborn screening program blood spots for exposure assessment: declining levels of perfluorinated compounds in New York state infants. Env. Sci. Technol. 42, 5361–5367.
- Stahl, T., Heyn, J., Thiele, H., Hüther, J., Failing, K., Georgii, S., Brunn, H., 2009. Carryover of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) and perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) from soil to plants. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 57 (2), 289–298.
- Stahl, T., Falk, S., Failing, K., Berger, J., Georgii, S., Brunn, H., 2012. Perfluorooctanoic acid and perfluorooctane sulfonate in liver and muscle tissue from wild boar in Hesse, Germany. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 62, 696–703.
- Sunderland, E.M., Hu, X.C., Dassuncao, C., Tokranov, A.K., Wagner, C.C., Allen, J.G., 2019. A review of the pathways of human exposure to poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) and present understanding of health effects. Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology 29, 131–147.
- Surma, M., Zieliński, H., Piskuła, M., 2016. Levels of contamination by perfluoroalkyl substances in honey from selected European countries. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 97, 112–118.
- Sznajder-Katarzyńska, K., Surma, M. & Cieślik, I. (2019). A review of Perfluoroalkyl Acids (PFAAs) in terms of sources, applications, human exposure, dietary intake, toxicity, legal regulation, and methods of determination. Journal of Chemistry, 2019/2717528.

- Taniyasu, S., Kannan, K., Horii, Y., Hanari, N., Yamashita, N., 2003. A survey of perfluorooctane sulfonate and related perfluorinated organic compounds in water, fish, birds, and humans from Japan. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37, 2634–2639.
- Tarazona, J.V., Rodríguez, C., Alonso, E., Sáez, M., González, F., San Andrés, M.D., Jiménez, B., San Andrés, M.I., 2015. Toxicokinetics of perfluorooctane sulfonate in birds under environmentally realistic exposure conditions and development of a kinetic predictive model. Toxicol. Lett. 232, 363–368.
- Tarazona, J.V., Rodríguez, C., Alonso, E., Sáez, M., González, F., San Andrés, M.D., Jiménez, B., San Andrés, M.I., 2016. Toxicokinetics of perfluorooctane sulfonate in rabbits under environmentally realistic exposure conditions and comparative assessment between mammals and birds. Toxicol. Lett. 241, 200–206.
- Thibodeaux, J.R., Hanson, R.G., Rogers, J.M., et al., 2003. Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. Toxicol. Sci. 74 (2), 369–381.
- Thomford PJ. (2002). 104-Week dietary chronic toxicity and carcinogenicity study with perfluorooctane sulfonic acid potassium salt (PFOS; T-6295) in rats. St. Paul, MN: 3M.
- Thompson, et al., 2011. Concentrations of PFOS, PFOA and other perfluorinated alkyl acids in Australian drinking water. Chemosphere 83 (2011), 1320–1325.
- Tittlemier, S.A., Pepper, K., Seymour, C., et al., 2007. Dietary exposure of Canadians to perfluorinated carboxylates and perfluorooctane sulfonate via consumption of meat, fish, fast foods, and food items prepared in their packaging. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 3203–3210.
- ToxConsult 2016a. "Toxicity profiles for the perfluorinated compounds PFOS, PFOA, 6: 2FTS and 8:2FTS." Prepared for AECOM. ToxConsult document ToxCR011115-RTF, dated 22nd July 2016. Appendix J in AECOM report "Stage 2C Environmental Investigation – Human Health Risk Assessment, Army Aviation Centre Oakey". http://www. defence.gov.au/Environment/PFAS/Docs/Oakey/Reports/0207-AACO-EI2-2016-HHRA_Final(FullReport).pdf.
- ToxConsult, b. http://www.defence.gov.au/Environment/PFAS/Docs/Oakey/Reports/ 0207-AACO-EI2-2016-HHRA_Final(FullReport).pdf.
- US EPA (2016) Fact Sheet PFOA & PFOS Drinking Water Health Advisories, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA 800-F-16-003, Washington, DC, USA, 2016.
- US EPA, 2017. Technical Fact Sheet Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS) and Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA). November 2017. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-12/documents/ffrrofactsheet_contaminants_pfos_pfoa_11-20-17_ 508_0.pdf (accessed 16 December 2019).
- Venkatesan, A.K., Halden, R.U., 2013. National inventory of perfluoroalkyl substances in archived U.S. biosolids from the 2001 EPA National Sewage Sludge Survey. J. Hazard. Mater. 252-253, 413–418.
- Vestergren, R., Orata, F., Berger, U., Cousins, I., 2013. Bioaccumulation of perfluoroalkyl acids in dairy cows in a naturally contaminated environment. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20, 7959–7969.
- Wang, Faqi, Liu, Wei, Jin, Yihe, Dai, Jiayin, Yu, Wenguang, Liu, Xiaohui, Liu, Li, 2010a. Transcriptional effects of prenatal and neonatal exposure to PFOS in developing rat brain. Environmental Science & Technology 44, 1847–1853.
- Wang, J.M., Shi, Y.L., Pan, Y.Y., Cai, Y.Q., 2010b. Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and other fluorochemicals in viscera and muscle of farmed pigs and chickens in Beijing, China. Chin. Sci. Bull. 55, 3550–3555.
- Wang, G. H., Lu, J. J., Xing, Z. N., Li, S. M., Liu, Z. L. & Tong, Y. B. (2017). Occurrence, Distribution, and Risk Assessment of Perfluoroalkyl Acids (PFAAs) in Muscle and Liver of Cattle in Xinjiang, China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14.
- Watanabe, M.X., Kunisue, T., Tao, L., Kannan, K., Subramanian, A., Tanabe, S., Iwata, H., 2010. Dioxin-like and perfluorinated compounds in pigs in an Indian open waste dumping site: Toxicokinetics and effects on hepatic cytochrome P450 and blood plasma hormones. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29 (7), 1551–1560.
- Wilson, T.B., Stevenson, G., Crough, R., de Araujo, J., Fernando, N., Anwar, A., ... Archer, M.J., 2020. Evaluation of residues in hen eggs after exposure of laying hens to water containing per-and poly-fluoroalkyl substances. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4723.
- Xiao, F., 2017. Emerging poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in the aquatic environment: a review of current literature. Water Research (Oxford) 124, 482–495.
- Xie, S., Cui, Y., Yang, Y., Meng, K., Pan, Y., Liu, Z., Chen, D., 2020. Tissue distribution and bioaccumulation of 8: 2 fluorotelomer alcohol and its metabolites in pigs after oral exposure. Chemosphere 249, 126016.
- Yeung et al. (2009) Biochemical Responses and Accumulation Properties of Long-Chain Perfluorinated Compounds (PFOS/PFDA/PFOA) in Juvenile Chickens (Gallus gallus) -Arch Environ Contam Toxicol, 57:377–386.
- Yoo, H., Guruge, K.S., Yamanaka, N., Sato, C., Mikami, O., Miyazaki, S., Yamashita, N., Giesy, J.P., 2009. Depuration kinetics and tissue disposition of PFOA and PFOS in white leghorn chickens (*Gallus gallus*) administered by subcutaneous implantation. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 72, 26–36.
- Yoo, H., Washington, J.W., Jenkins, T.M., Ellington, J.J., 2011. Quantitative determination of perfluorochemicals and fluorotelomer alcohols in plants from biosolid-amended fields using LC/MS/MS and GC/MS. Environmental science & technology 45 (19), 7985–7990.
- Zafeiraki, E., Vassiliadou, I., Costopoulou, D., Leondiadis, L., Schafft, H.A., Hoogenboom, R.L., van Leeuwen, S.P., 2016a. Perfluoroalkylated substances in edible livers of farm animals, including depuration behaviour in young sheep fed with contaminated grass. Chemosphere 156, 280–285.
- Zafeiraki, E., Costopoulou, D., Vassiliadou, I., Leondiadis, L., Dassenakis, E., Hoogenboom, R.L., van Leeuwen, S.P., 2016b. Perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs) in home and commercially produced chicken eggs from the Netherlands and Greece. Chemosphere 144, 2106–2112.
- Zhao, L, Zhu, L, Yang, I., Liu, Z., Zhang, Y., 2012. Distribution and desorption of perfluorinated compounds in fractionated sediments. Chemosphere 88, 1390e1397.